

# UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI NAPOLI

# FEDERICO II

## SCUOLA DI DOTTORATO IN NEUROSCIENZE XXXIV CICLO

COORDINATORE: PROF. MAURIZIO TAGLIALATELA

## NEUROPSYCHOLOGICAL BALANCE IN PARKINSON'S PATIENTS AFTER

## DEEP BRAIN STIMULATION:

TOTAL ELECTRICAL ENERGY DELIVERED OR LED POSITIONING?

DOTT. SSA TERESA SOMMA

TUTOR: PROF. LUIGI MARIA CAVALLO

ANNO ACCADEMICO 2020/2021

### Indice

<b>Resume: introduction, methods, results, conclusions:</b> 3
State of art
<b>DBS and mood disorders</b> 5
<i>Euphoria, hypomania and mania</i> 6
Depression7
Anxiety
Apathy9
Suicide10
Patients and Methods
Patients
Clinical Assessment14
Neurological Evaluation14
Neuropsychological Evaluation14
Imaging Evaluation16
TEED estimation17
Statistical Analysis

Results	18
Discussion	22
Limitations	
Conclusions	27
References	

Neuropsychological balance in Parkinson's Patients after Deep Brain Stimulation: total electrical energy delivered or led positioning?

#### Abstract

#### Introduction

Parkinson's Disease (PD) is characterized by some cardinal motor signs: 4-6 HZ resting tremor, rigidity, and bradykinesia. Furthermore, most patients may experience neuropsychiatric disturbances throughout their disease, including depression, anxiety, sleep disturbances, psychosis, and behavioral and cognitive changes. The Deep Brain Stimulation has so far proved to be a successful neurosurgical procedure in controlling the motor symptoms associated with PD. However, since 2013, some authors have highlighted a possible correlation between the occurrence of mood disorders such as apathy, depression, and suicidal ideation, and deep brain stimulation surgery. Therefore, to date, several prospective and retrospective studies investigated this phenomenon showing conflicting results, mainly due to differences in population characteristics and study designs. Our study appraised the neuropsychological balance after one-year DBS.

#### Methods

From 2011 to 2020, the Neurosurgery Division at Federico II University of Naples performed 53 procedures. Of these patients, fourteen (26%), seven females, and seven males underwent a comprehensive neuropsychological examination at baseline and one year following STN-DBS. The *Suretune*<sup>™</sup> *Medtronic*® software ensured a detailed evaluation of the lead position, whereas total electrical energy delivered was estimated using the Koss formula.

#### Results

There was no difference in the baseline characteristics. The leads were positioned within the dorsolateral area of the NST for all patients. Evaluation at 12 months in the 14 patients showed a significative clinical improvement in the post-operative UPDRS (*p*-value = 0,004). The Student's t-test performed between preoperative and postoperative data turned out statistically significant for two psychological tests: HAM-A (*p*-value 0,0410) and BIS-11(*p*-value= 0,0483); no significant differences were found in the remaining tests administrated. TEED was not correlated to behavior modifications.

#### Conclusions

A tailored and multidisciplinary patient evaluation, alongside a correct target selection, and maximal accuracy, guarantees the best efficacy and safety, without permanent alterations in the neuropsychological asset, following the Deep Brain Stimulation Surgery.

#### State of art

Parkinson's disease (PD) is the second most common neurodegenerative disorder.

It occurs in approximately 7 million people worldwide, with 0,3-1% prevalence in the 60-80 year range. It is characterized by dopaminergic neurodegeneration of the nigrostriatal pathway, resulting in both motor and non-motor symptoms[1-4].

The ancient medical system of the Ayurveda, born and developed in India between 4500 and 2000 BC, recognized already the first signs of this disease, using the term *"Kampavata"* to refer to a clinical picture characterized by tremor, akinesia, depression. They also identified some herbal preparations, containing levodopa, for treating the disease. [5]

In the early 70' bestseller "The Terminal Man" highly anticipated the revolutionary treatment for Parkinson's Disease: deep brain stimulation (STN-DBS), approved in 1997. The main character of the romance was treated by an experimental psychosurgical procedure known as "Stage Three" with the positioning of electrodes in his brain.

Deep Brain Stimulation (STN-DBS) so far proved to be highly effective in treating many of PD's motor symptoms and often allows medication reductions [6].

However, since 2013, some authors have highlighted a possible relationship between mood disorders and deep brain stimulation.

#### **DBS and mood disorders**

Parkinson's disease and its treatments impact on frontal–striatal systems, a critical pattern for behavioral regulation. [7]

DBS induces controversial effects on mood disorders. [8] Several authors demonstrated its efficacy on treatment of depression and anxiety. Many others underlined the worsening of mood state with a higher risk of suicide. There are several cohort studies concerning behavioral changes following DBS, including the onset of mania, depression, suicidal

ideation, apathy and impulsivity, as well as effects of this treatment on global cognitive abilities, attention, executive functions, and memory.[9, 10] [11-13] Nowadays, the conclusions about mood disorders outcome after DBS are unclear probably due to the relative heterogeneity of the scales to evaluate the outcome.[14-19]

#### Euphoria, hypomania, and mania

Postoperative euphoria and hypomania have been described in 4–15% of patients and usually are observed within the first 3 months after surgery. Manic psychosis occurs in 0.9–1.7% of patients.[20, 21]

These conditions typically develop in close association with DBS initiation; thus, such states seem to be a direct consequence of neuromodulation affecting the limbic basal ganglia pathways. This is supported by the electrode position within the anteromedial limbic territory of the STN.[22-24] and by inadvertent axonal activation in the medial forebrain bundle, which runs close to the anteromedial STN. Indeed, The medial forebrain bundle is an important pathway of the mesolimbic dopamine system and belongs to the reward circuitry, which has been implicated in affective disorders, addictive behavior, and learning. [15, 16] In the long term, the stimulation threshold for induction of these phenomena gradually increases and, eventually, the contact that initially caused the adverse effect can be used for chronic stimulation. [25]

#### Depression

Depression is observed in 20–25% of patients with PD following subthalamic surgery, and that such symptoms typically develop within the first 2 months of undergoing this procedure. [26, 27] The effect of psychological components must not be underestimated. Risk factors for postoperative depression include rapid or excessive withdrawal of dopaminergic medication, a previous history of depression, and problems adjusting to a reduction in disability level. [10]

*Castelli et al.* found no differences in mood or anxiety in patients with PD following 3 years of treatment with either STN-DBS or best medical management.[17] This is in line with a 5 year follow-up study, in which only one of 49 patients with PD who underwent STN-DBS developed clinically relevant depression at the end of the observational period.[28] Another prospective study evaluated mood and psychosocial functioning in such patients for 3 years after STN-DBS and also found no marked changes in these states over the study period.

In a case report by Tommasi and colleagues,[29] acute transient depression was induced by DBS through several contacts of the quadrupolar electrodes, these contacts covered a large subthalamic volume including the zona incerta, STN and substantia nigra. The stimulation-induced mood changes subsequently adapted with time, indicating that the micro traumatic effect of the implantation procedure contributed to the appearance of these changes. [30]

The involvement of ventral contacts in the stimulation and its relationship with mood disorders was further corroborated by the ComPare trial, [31] in which 22 patients with PD rated themselves on average 'less happy', 'less energetic' and 'more confused' when stimulated ventrally (below the optimal motor target) than when stimulated by a more distal

contact within the sensorimotor region of the STN. No patients in this trial, however, exhibited acute depressive symptoms.

Ventral subthalamic stimulation might reproduce a mild depressive syndrome through limited current spread into this region. Studies evaluating acute mood changes with stimulation inside the STN through contacts providing optimal motor control-have consistently reported acute anti-depressive and mood-elevating effects in patients. [32, 33]

#### Anxiety

Anxiety (up to the level of panic attacks) is a frequent nonmotor symptom during off periods in medically treated PD patients. In a controlled study of patients with PD, individuals who underwent DBS-STN had markedly lower Beck anxiety inventory scores after 6 months of therapy than individuals receiving best medical treatment. Caution is warranted in the interpretation of this finding, however, as the Beck anxiety inventory includes several items with a strong somatic connection (such as an inability to relax and tremor of the hands) that improve considerably after DBS. [10] However, reductions in anxiety following sub-thalamic neurostimulation have been reported in studies using other scales and measures of state anxiety during stimulation challenges. [32, 34] Whether reductions in anxiety occur secondarily to improvements in motor fluctuations or are a genuine nonmotor effect of DBS-STN remains unknown. [35, 36]

#### Apathy

Apathy is the most frequent long-term psychiatric adverse effect of subthalamic neurostimulation. Clinically, apathy is defined as a decrease in motivation and interest that cannot be ascribed to emotional or cognitive disorders, or to an impairment of consciousness. The proportion of patients with PD who exhibited apathy was documented to be 8.7% before surgery and 24.6% in the third postoperative year. [24]

In individuals with PD, apathy is more frequently associated with a frontal dysexecutive syndrome or dementia than with depression, indicating that this symptom is at least in part attributable to an advanced stage of disease characterized by widespread neurodegeneration. [37] In other studies apathy was associated with the spectrum of hypodopaminergic nonmotor symptoms of PD because in some patients this symptom responds to dopaminergic treatment. [38]

Disease progression might explain the increasing incidence of apathy seen in longterm follow-ups after DBS surgery. However, a marked deterioration in apathy scores has been noted as early as 3–6 months post-operatively, indicating that apathy is associated with either neurostimulation itself or medication withdrawal in the immediate postoperative period. [18]

These preliminary data indicate that subthalamic neurostimulation might inadvertently modulate a frontal motivational network that is connected to the limbic and associative territories of the STN, thereby causing apathy. This etiological concept is still controversial, however, as a study comparing apathy in the stimulation-on and stimulation-off states found an improvement in self-reported apathy with STN-DBS. [39]

#### Suicide

The risk of suicide in patients post-DBS is estimated to be higher than the average for the general population and higher than the average for those with Parkinson's disease who had not sought DBS. [40]

According to Burkhard et al.[41], pre-operative risk factors include history of severe depression and multiple DBS surgeries, despite successful post-operative motor outcomes. Conversely, a later study, of 200 STN-DBS patients with PD found that post- operative depression or impulsivity was associated with suicidality, with no evident difference in pre-operative depressive or cognitive status between suicidal and non-suicidal patients. [42]

The frequency of suicide, reported in a multicenter survey, among patients undergoing STN-DBS for advanced PD is 0.45% of surgically treated patients (24 of 5,311 individuals). The rate of attempted suicides in such patients was reported to be 0.90%. Postoperative depression, being single, and a previous history of iCDs were found to be independent risk factors for suicide in these patients (together, these factors accounted for 51% of the postoperative suicide risk). [43]

Another study revealed that suicide attempts can occur in surgically treated patients with PD who have no previous or present psychopathology and under circumstances that underline the impulsive nature of this behavior. [44]

#### Relationship between neuropsychological outcome and led position

The subthalamic nucleus (STN) is a highly organized structure, and several studies examineted its spatial and functional organization. It can be distinguished in three functionally

distinct territories: a dorsolateral component, involved in somatomotor functions, an anterior component, ventromedial, with associative functions in communication with the limbic system, and a pure medial part, involved in the limbic circuits although documented only in primatesv[45]. Therefore, the best target for DBS procedure, to lessen the risk of interference with the limbic circuits and neuropsychological sequelae, would be represented by the dorsolateral portion [45]. However, it is not always easy an easy task to obtain. Indeed, the STN is a very small structure and the discrimination among emotional, cognitive, and motor areas is very difficult. York et al. evaluated the led positioning using software (Framelink 5.1TM) for achieving the approximated localization within the STN with several different parameters such as the superomedial distance (distance to target) and inferolateral (distance past target). They reported cognitive and emotional changes six months after bilateral STN DBS, suggesting that the angle of surgical trajectory and electrode placement can play a role in cognitive and emotional functioning [46]. This is supported by Tsai et al. that demonstrated the relationship between the worse psychiatric outcome with a more anterior and ventromedial led localization [47].

Postoperative onset of the psychiatric disorders, represented by opposite conditions such as apathy and depression with suicide and suicide attempts on one hand, or mania and impulse control disorders on the other with significant social life changes, have been widely underlined. It led to a flourishing bloom of studies showing conflicting results, mainly due to differences in population characteristics and study designs.[18, 48-51] Our study aims to evaluate the neuropsychological balance after Deep brain stimulation, considering a homogenous sample of patients selected by a multidisciplinary team, enriched by the neuropsychiatric specialist.

#### **Patients and Methods**

This prospective study aimed at assessing the relationship between neuropsychiatric disorders and Deep Brain Stimulation.

#### Patients

From 2011 to 2020, 53 patients affected by Parkinson's Disease were enrolled at the Neurosurgery Department of the University of Federico II of Naples and treated with Deep Brain Stimulation, with selective targeting the dorsolateral region of the Subthalamic Nucleus (STN).

All patients were evaluated by a multidisciplinary team of neurologists, neurosurgeons, psychiatrists who assessed the eligibility for surgery by administering the Core assessment program for surgical interventional therapies in Parkinson's disease (CAPSIT-PD) (Table 1).[52]

Of these patients, fourteen (seven females, and seven males with an average age of 55,7 years old) have been prospectively exanimated at baseline and one year following STN-DBS on a comprehensive neuropsychological examination. Eight of them were already in treatment with antidepressant drugs (fluoxetine and duloxetine), while six of them were treated with benzodiazepines (lorazepam, alprazolam) or mild sedatives (melatonin-based drops) at the same time. The characteristics related to the patients are summarized in Table

General and mood evaluation	Mattis Dementia Rating Scale	MDRS
	Montgomery and Asberg Depression Rating Scale	MADRS
Executive function	Verbal fluency: letters F, A, and S	FAS
	Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test	PASAT
	Odd Man Out	ОМО
	Modified Brown Peterson Paradigm	MBPP
Explicit memory	Rey Auditory and Verbal Learning Test	RAVLT
	Visual amnesic battery of Signoret	
Procedural memory	Short version of Tower of Hanoi	

Table 1.

Core assessment program for surgical interventional therapies in Parkinson's disease CAPSIT-PD.

Patients Characteristics				
Subjects	14			
Sex (% female)	50%			
Age	55,7±9.12			
Duration of disease(years)	9.78±2.51			
Depression	8			

Table 2. Patients Characteristics

#### **Clinical Assessment**

#### **Neurological Evaluation:**

The patients were evaluated by the same neurologic team 3 months before the operation and every three months following the STN-DBS. The neurological assessment was performed in off-medication condition, after a 12-hour withdrawal from drugs, and in the on-medication condition with Unified Parkinson's disease rating scale (UPDRS).

It was the neurologist's task to gradually reduce L-dopa treatment to the maximum extent permitted by patients' motor state starting from the day following surgery. About two weeks after the surgery, the pulse generator was activated, and in the following months, the optimal settings for all patients were reached.

#### Neuropsychological Evaluation:

The patients have been prospectively exanimated at baseline and one year following STN-DBS on a comprehensive neuropsychological examination that explored 5 psychological domains with the following self and hetero-evaluation scales:

#### • Depression:

The hetero-evaluation scales used were the Hamilton Scale for Depression (HAM-D) and the Montgomery-Asberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS). HAM-D indicates the absence of depression if the score is </ = 7, mild depression for a score between 8 and 17, moderate between 18 and 24, and severe if> / = 25) and it represents the reference standard; whereas for MADRS there is absent depression with scores between 0-6, mild 7-19, moderate 20-34, severe> 35. The self-assessment scale administered was the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) that states minimal depression if the score is less than 9, mild between 10-18, moderate 19-29, severe if> 30.

#### • Anxiety:

The hetero-evaluation scales used were the Hamilton Rating Scale for Anxiety –(HAM-A) and the Anxiety Status Inventory (ASI). HAM-A scores are characterized by: <17 mild anxiety, 18-24 moderate, 25-30 severe,> 30 persistent anxiety). ASI, instead, has for cut off a score of 45 to discriminate the presence or absence of anxiety. As self-assessment scales, the Self-rating Anxiety State scale (SAS) and the Beck Anxiety Inventory scale were used. SAS has a single cut-off of 45 to discriminate the presence or absence or absence of anxiety inventory scale were used. SAS has a single cut-off of 45 to discriminate the presence or absence or absence of anxiety anxiety; BAI (<21 mild anxiety, 22-35 moderate anxiety,> 36 severe anxiety).

#### • Apathy:

The scale used was the Apathy Evaluation Scale (AES) which is characterized by a cut off 38/72 (a higher score indicates a more severe apathy level) and treats apathy as a psychological dimension defined by several aspects:

1. Cognitive apathy: Reduction of initiative followed by executive deficits in attentional supervision, planning, scheduling of activities (lesions of the dorsolateral prefrontal circuit)

2. Emotional-affective apathy: Affective flattening and difficulty in associating and in the interpretation of emotional signals with behavior (Lesions of the orbito-medial prefrontal circuit)

3. Behavioral apathy: difficulty in reaching the activation/initiative threshold necessary to generate the motor programs aimed at completing the targeted behavior, which can be overcome with external stresses

#### • Impulsiveness:

For its evaluation, the Barratt Impulsiveness Scale-11(BIS-11) was used. It discriminates the presence or absence of impulsivity with a cut-off of 63.8±10.

#### • Suicidal ideation and attitudes:

The scales used were the Reason for Living Inventory (RFL-48), the Columbia-Suicide Severity Rating Scale (C-SSRS), and the Scale for Suicide Ideation (SSI).

These tests were administered to patients 3 months before the surgical procedure (time 0t0) with the patients in "ON" state, approximately one hour after taking the drug, and then again 12 months following the surgery (time 1 -t1), in the same conditions. The overall examination lasted for an hour and a half for each patient; the presence of family members or relatives that could have influenced the patient's responses was avoided.

#### Surgical technique and programming

Patients underwent the bilateral implantation of a Deep Brain Stimulation system with a selective targeting on the dorsolateral region of the Subthalamic Nucleus (STN). [53] To ensure the correct placement of the electrodes, accurate preoperative planning was performed and a postoperative CT was done to check the right position of the electrodes.

#### Imaging Evaluation:

Each patient performed a preoperative MRI with sequences specific for our Parkinson protocol (FLAIR, MP-RAGE, MP2-RAGE). On the first postoperative day, a CT scan of the

skull, integrated with radiography extended to the right subclaviclear region, was performed to show the correct positioning of the leads and the components of the deep brain stimulation system.

Moreover, the *Suretune*<sup>™</sup> *Medtronic*<sup>®</sup> software ensured a detailed evaluation of the electrodes' localization (Fig 4 and 2). It is an innovative system that allows an extremely accurate tridimensional evaluation of the electrical contact. This novel technology was a fundamental support in verifying the extent of the postoperative stimulated area in order to correlate the relationship between postoplerative mood disorders onset with the leads localization.

#### **TEED** estimation

Total electrical energy delivered (TEED) per second through the STN-DBS leads was estimated using the KOSS formula. [54] The stimulation parameters and the contact impedance were read at 12 months after DBS, and TEED values were calculated without side distinction.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

All data analyses were performed using R Studio software<sup>TM</sup> (version 1.3.959). Data were summarized in terms of size and frequency for categorical data by mean scores±standard deviation for quantitative data. The data have been analyzed by performing a paired *t*-test (Student's *t*-test) comparing preoperative and postoperative data. A *p*-value <0.05 was considered significant.

TEET analysis was performed with the Koss formula.

#### Results

14 patients were enrolled in the study and the data are summarized in Table 2. There was no difference in the baseline characteristics. 8 patients were already in treatment with antidepressant drugs (fluoxetine and duloxetine), while six of them were treated with benzodiadepines (lorazepam, alprazolam) or mild sedatives (melatonin-based drops) at the same time. Evaluation at 12 months in the 14 patients showed a significative clinical improvement in the post-operative UPDRS (*p*-value = 0,004) (Fig 1). The Student's t-test performed between preoperative and postoperative data turned out statistically significant for two psychological tests: HAM-A (*p*-value 0,0410) and BIS-11(*p*-value= 0,0483)(Fig. 2-3); no significant differences were found in the remaining tests administrated. Table 3 (Table 3) summarizes the t-Student tests carried out for each neuropsychiatric test. The electrodes were located within the NST for all patients (Fig. 4-5). We did not observe any significant correlation between TEED and neuropsychological modifications.

Test	Average + Stand	P-value	
	ТО	T1	
HAM-D	10,64±6,11	8,78±6,67	0.4241
MADRS	12,78±7,04	11,21±6,36	0.5460
BDI	12,64±5,27	10,5±6,58	0.2856
HAM-A	14,36±6,40	10,29±5,46	0.0410*
BAI	15±6,67	11,71±8,79	0.1717
ASI	45,14±8,18	45,5±17,93	0,9485
SAS	50,07±7,21	48,86±11,99	0.721
RFL-48	4,64±0,47	4,47±0,35	0.2511
SSI	0,5±1,87	0,36±0,63	0.8003
AES	29,35±6,68	29,71±6,68	0,8781
BIS-11	60,14±8,72	66,07±8,76	0.0483*

Table 3. Neuropsychological tests result



Figure 1. UPDRS score before and after DBS surgery



Figure 2. Preoperative and postoperative BIS-11 box plot



Figure 3. Preoperative and postoperative HAM-A box plot.



Figure 4. Leads position within the STN.



Figure 5. Tridimensional representation with Suretune™.

#### Discussion

Deep brain stimulation (DBS) is a very well-established and effective treatment for patients with extrapyramidal diseases. However, some undesirable neuropsychological outcomes have been reported after surgical procedure and are still a matter of discussion.

In our series, we investigated the relationship between the DBS and the neuropsychiatric outcome through a comprehensive neuropsychological evaluation before and 1 year after the surgery. Moreover, we focus our attention on the possible correlation between the impact of the total energy delivered and the led positioning within the STN with the mood status of the Parkinson patients.

Several hypotheses have been formulated to explain the complex mechanisms behind the possible onset of neurophysiological disorders after DBS [55-58].

Inevitably. it could be related to the patient. Indeed, some patients with PD are more prone to develop psychiatric disorders after DBS than others. In this scenario, the family history, pre-existing non-motor fluctuation, disability grade, and length of duration disease play a crucial role. [6] In this regard, it is important to consider the difficulty in identifying a depressive state in patients with PD. It is not an easy task to accomplish; depression or apathy and PD have several symptoms and signs in common, and this symptomatologic overlap makes harder the diagnostic process, especially in the initial stages of the disease. Bradykinesia, identified as the difficulty in initiating actions and carrying out the normal activities of daily life, inexpressiveness, and facial amimia are reminiscent of the psychomotor slowdown, reduction or loss of initiative, and affective dulling that characterize depression or apathy. Therefore, it is difficult to differentiate among somatic and vegetative Parkinson symptoms such as fatigue, sleep, and appetite alterations with possible expressions of depression. Consequentially, it has been suggested that reduced appetite and early awakening in the morning are more specific to PD; hence, these would be the signs and symptoms that should be researched when counseling the PD patient about depression.

However, considering that the tests administered on a daily basis are aimed at assessing the presence and severity of depressive symptoms in the general population, it is challenging to ensure a result that is specific enough of depression associated with PD. [55]

Furthermore, each patient can present variations of the neurodegeneration process. Canesi et al. reported that mood alterations in PD, considering both depressive symptoms and mood elevation, are related to the advanced stages of the disease as well as the presence of impulsive disorders, and dopaminergic therapy alone would not always be able to restore a normal mood condition. In addition, it has been described that the occurrence of psychiatric disorders is correlated with the mesocorticolimbic dopaminergic denervation more than the nigrostriatal denervation. [59-62]

Another aspect to consider, according to Thobois et al., is the Delayed Dopamine Withdrawal Syndrome (DAWS). It is due to the consistent postoperative reduction in dopamine and L-dopa medications. It is characterized by apathy, depression, and suicide attempts that have a significant percentage of regression after dopamine agonist administration[62].

All patients underwent the same degree of reduction in dopaminergic therapy, but the patients could have been affected in different ways according to disease duration or degrees of motor impairment.

The Student's t-test performed between preoperative and postoperative data turned out statistically significant for two psychological tests: HAM-A (*p*-value 0,0410) and BIS-11(*p*-value= 0,0483).

We did not find any statistical difference between patients who had a history of anxiety or mild/moderate depression and those who did not have a pre-existing psychiatric disorder.

However, in two cases, we assisted a significant mood improvement. Both patients had a longer disease duration with a history of mild depression. After DBS, they experimented improvement of their invalidated symptoms with significant better change of their quality of life and of their depression mood. This is in line with Combs et al. findings[18]; they stated a better chance of larger reductions of depressive symptoms correlated with the length of time an individual lives with Parkinson's disease prior to seeking DBS, hence with longer disease duration. This aspect is important to consider, because patients with high levels of depressive symptoms are routinely assessed as weaker candidates for surgical consideration. [63] Some studies implied that an initial improvement in anxiety might be ascribable to the improvement in the motor domain, but it can be followed by a worsening subsequent to the several adjustments of stimulation parameters that the patients have to endure in the postoperative period (particularly an increase in voltage and intensity) or alteration of limbic circuits[64], whereas other studies did not find any significant correlation between DBS and anxiety. [18]

The worsening of impulsivity assessed by the BIS scale has been just reported. [57] [65]It is mandatory to underly, that albeit there was a statistically significant increase of impulsivity, it remained within the range limit for all the patients, compared to the general population. Furthermore, the intake of dopamine agonists in PD patients is a risk factor for the development of an impulsive disorder. [66]

In this scenario, it is important to underline that the increase in impulsive behaviors would lie in the functional characteristics in the STN itself. Indeed, it is involved in corticocortical motor networks, but also in cognitive and emotional pathways[10]. In particular, the ventromedial region actively draggers in the limbic circuits. It appears essential to allow the integration of all information related to the decision-making process for preventing premature, impulsive responses, especially in high-conflict situations. In other words, it is referred to a « hold your

horses » signal allowing to delay the decision and gather additional information to choose the best option. [67]

Thus, the leads positioning within the NST can play a role in the mood disorders, induced by direct and indirect stimulation of the pathway enrolled in the mood control. York et al. [28] support the hypothesis that the dorsolateral subthalamus, responsible for motor control, is the most suitable site for electrode placement, since it guarantees the best outcome.

The *Suretune*<sup>™</sup> *Medtronic*® software, that ensures a detailed and tridimensional evaluation of the leads' localization, showed dorsolateral location of all electrical contacts. Indeed, our patients experimented an improvement of motor symptoms with no significant changes of mood status. Therefore, two cases, distinguished by an important better change of their mood, characterized by a more lateral position of the contacts, confirming the key role of the lead location for the clinical outcomes.

In this contest, it is interesting evaluate the correlation between the neuropsychological alterations and the quantity of energy delivered in this highly organized structure.

To the best of our knowledge no previous studies evaluated this correlation, whereas few studies investigated only the relationship with motor outcomes[64]. In terms of stimulation settings, constant current (CC) and constant voltage (CV) to achieve equivalent motor efficacy have not shown any significant differences in non-motor outcomes, including cognition, mood, and quality of life. Dajal et al. in their review [68] analyzed the side effects emerging as a result in a change in the stimulation parameters delivered through a DBS contact. However, because of the natural anatomical variation between patients, as well as variations in surgical technique, targeting and precision, there is inevitably a confounding factor in the interpretation of stimulation adjustments between patients. Our TEED analysis showed no correlation with neuropsychological changes.

Given the complexity of the pathology and the limitations that underlie a correct neuropsychiatric evaluation, further studies with a more extensive series are needed. The future perspectives of DBS move towards ultra-tailored treatment by the BrainSense<sup>™</sup> technology.

#### Limitations

A complete understanding of neuropsychological balance is difficult for several limitations. The assessments are based on tests outcomes that are not intended as diagnostic tools but as methods to assess the severity of the symptoms. Moreover, the hetero-evaluative scales are characterized by reduced objectivity, given that each answer is the result of a subjective evaluation of the doctor. The self-administered scales, on the other hand, may present the limit of a possible compromised understanding by the patients due to the educational level or the degree of cognitive impairment, especially in patients who have been suffering from the disease for a longer time. Furthermore, in some scales, such as the SAS, the Apathy Scale, and the BIS, for some items that explore well-being, the score is opposite to the others that instead explore negative symptoms, and it is meant for reducing the risk that the patient mechanically gives the same score to all items, however that can lead to confusion. Finally, the scale validity could be reduced by several factors, i.e., the poor educational background of the patient or a mood disorder related to any negative event that might occur in the follow-up year, albeit not having a causal correlation with the DBS, is mistakenly associated with it.

#### Conclusion

Our findings indicate that a tailored and multidisciplinary patient evaluation, alongside a correct target selection as well as the maximal accuracy in the postoperative treatment,

ensure the best efficacy and safety without permanent neuropsychological disorders after Deep brain stimulation. Given the complexity of the pathology and the limitations that underlie a correct neuropsychiatric evaluation, further studies with a more extensive series are needed. The future perspectives of DBS move towards ultra-tailored treatment by the BrainSense<sup>™</sup> technology.

#### References

1. Aarsland D, Marsh L, Schrag A. Neuropsychiatric symptoms in Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord. 2009;24(15):2175-86. doi: 10.1002/mds.22589. PubMed PMID: 19768724; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2787875.

2. Armstrong MJ, Okun MS. Diagnosis and Treatment of Parkinson Disease: A Review. JAMA. 2020;323(6):548-60. doi: 10.1001/jama.2019.22360. PubMed PMID: 32044947.

3. Buoli M, Caldiroli A, Altamura AC. Psychiatric Conditions in Parkinson Disease: A Comparison With Classical Psychiatric Disorders. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol. 2016;29(2):72-91. Epub 20150916. doi: 10.1177/0891988715606233. PubMed PMID: 26377851.

4. Richard IH. Depression and apathy in Parkinson's disease. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. 2007;7(4):295-301. doi: 10.1007/s11910-007-0045-z. PubMed PMID: 17618535.

5. Manyam BV. Paralysis agitans and levodopa in "Ayurveda": ancient Indian medical treatise. Mov Disord. 1990;5(1):47-8. doi: 10.1002/mds.870050112. PubMed PMID: 2404203.

6. Limousin P, Foltynie T. Long-term outcomes of deep brain stimulation in Parkinson disease. Nat Rev Neurol. 2019;15(4):234-42. doi: 10.1038/s41582-019-0145-9. PubMed PMID: 30778210.

7. Frank MJ, Scheres A, Sherman SJ. Understanding decision-making deficits in neurological conditions: insights from models of natural action selection. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 2007;362(1485):1641-54. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2007.2058. PubMed PMID: 17428775; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2440777.

8. Nambu A, Tokuno H, Hamada I, Kita H, Imanishi M, Akazawa T, et al. Excitatory cortical inputs to pallidal neurons via the subthalamic nucleus in the monkey. J Neurophysiol. 2000;84(1):289-300. doi: 10.1152/jn.2000.84.1.289. PubMed PMID: 10899204.

9. de Solages C, Hill BC, Yu H, Henderson JM, Bronte-Stewart H. Maximal subthalamic beta hypersynchrony of the local field potential in Parkinson's disease is located in the central region of the nucleus. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2011;82(12):1387-9. Epub 20110104. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2010.223107. PubMed PMID: 21205981.

10. Wilson S, Bladin P, Saling M. The "burden of normality": concepts of adjustment after surgery for seizures. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2001;70(5):649-56. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.70.5.649. PubMed PMID: 11309460; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1737335.

11. Deuschl G, Schade-Brittinger C, Krack P, Volkmann J, Schäfer H, Bötzel K, et al. A randomized trial of deep-brain stimulation for Parkinson's disease. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(9):896-908. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa060281. PubMed PMID: 16943402.

12. Weaver FM, Follett K, Stern M, Hur K, Harris C, Marks WJ, et al. Bilateral deep brain stimulation vs best medical therapy for patients with advanced Parkinson disease: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2009;301(1):63-73. doi: 10.1001/jama.2008.929. PubMed PMID: 19126811; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2814800.

13. Witt K, Daniels C, Reiff J, Krack P, Volkmann J, Pinsker MO, et al. Neuropsychological and psychiatric changes after deep brain stimulation for Parkinson's disease: a randomised, multicentre study. Lancet Neurol. 2008;7(7):605-14. Epub 20080604. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(08)70114-5. PubMed PMID: 18538636.

14. Parsons TD, Rogers SA, Braaten AJ, Woods SP, Tröster AI. Cognitive sequelae of subthalamic nucleus deep brain stimulation in Parkinson's disease: a meta-analysis. Lancet Neurol. 2006;5(7):578-88. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(06)70475-6. PubMed PMID: 16781988.

15. Coenen VA, Honey CR, Hurwitz T, Rahman AA, McMaster J, Bürgel U, et al. Medial forebrain bundle stimulation as a pathophysiological mechanism for hypomania in subthalamic

nucleus deep brain stimulation for Parkinson's disease. Neurosurgery. 2009;64(6):1106-14; discussion 14-5. doi: 10.1227/01.NEU.0000345631.54446.06. PubMed PMID: 19487890.

16. Waraczynski MA. The central extended amygdala network as a proposed circuit underlying reward valuation. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2006;30(4):472-96. Epub 20051021. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2005.09.001. PubMed PMID: 16243397.

17. Častelli L, Perozzo P, Zibetti M, Crivelli B, Morabito U, Lanotte M, et al. Chronic deep brain stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus for Parkinson's disease: effects on cognition, mood, anxiety and personality traits. Eur Neurol. 2006;55(3):136-44. Epub 20060508. doi: 10.1159/000093213. PubMed PMID: 16682797.

18. Drapier D, Drapier S, Sauleau P, Haegelen C, Raoul S, Biseul I, et al. Does subthalamic nucleus stimulation induce apathy in Parkinson's disease? J Neurol. 2006;253(8):1083-91. Epub 20060410. doi: 10.1007/s00415-006-0177-0. PubMed PMID: 16607469.

19. Castelli L, Lanotte M, Zibetti M, Caglio M, Rizzi L, Ducati A, et al. Apathy and verbal fluency in STN-stimulated PD patients. An observational follow-up study. J Neurol.

2007;254(9):1238-43. Epub 20070411. doi: 10.1007/s00415-006-0510-7. PubMed PMID: 17426909.
20. Appleby BS, Duggan PS, Regenberg A, Rabins PV. Psychiatric and neuropsychiatric adverse events associated with deep brain stimulation: A meta-analysis of ten years' experience. Mov Disord. 2007;22(12):1722-8. doi: 10.1002/mds.21551. PubMed PMID: 17721929.

21. Voon V, Kubu C, Krack P, Houeto JL, Tröster AI. Deep brain stimulation: neuropsychological and neuropsychiatric issues. Mov Disord. 2006;21 Suppl 14:S305-27. doi: 10.1002/mds.20963. PubMed PMID: 16810676.

22. Reijnders JS, Ehrt U, Weber WE, Aarsland D, Leentjens AF. A systematic review of prevalence studies of depression in Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord. 2008;23(2):183-9; quiz 313. doi: 10.1002/mds.21803. PubMed PMID: 17987654.

23. Rothlind JC, Cockshott RW, Starr PA, Marks WJ. Neuropsychological performance following staged bilateral pallidal or subthalamic nucleus deep brain stimulation for Parkinson's disease. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. 2007;13(1):68-79. doi: 10.1017/S1355617707070105. PubMed PMID: 17166305.

24. Funkiewiez A, Ardouin C, Caputo E, Krack P, Fraix V, Klinger H, et al. Long term effects of bilateral subthalamic nucleus stimulation on cognitive function, mood, and behaviour in Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2004;75(6):834-9. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2002.009803. PubMed PMID: 15145995; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1739075.

25. Bejjani BP, Arnulf I, Demeret S, Damier P, Bonnet AM, Houeto JL, et al. Levodopa-induced dyskinesias in Parkinson's disease: is sensitization reversible? Ann Neurol. 2000;47(5):655-8. PubMed PMID: 10805339.

26. Berney A, Vingerhoets F, Perrin A, Guex P, Villemure JG, Burkhard PR, et al. Effect on mood of subthalamic DBS for Parkinson's disease: a consecutive series of 24 patients. Neurology. 2002;59(9):1427-9. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000032756.14298.18. PubMed PMID: 12427897.

27. Houeto JL, Mesnage V, Mallet L, Pillon B, Gargiulo M, du Moncel ST, et al. Behavioural disorders, Parkinson's disease and subthalamic stimulation. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.
2002;72(6):701-7. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.72.6.701. PubMed PMID: 12023409; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1737905.

28. Krack P, Batir A, Van Blercom N, Chabardes S, Fraix V, Ardouin C, et al. Five-year followup of bilateral stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus in advanced Parkinson's disease. N Engl J Med. 2003;349(20):1925-34. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa035275. PubMed PMID: 14614167.

29. Tommasi G, Lanotte M, Albert U, Zibetti M, Castelli L, Maina G, et al. Transient acute depressive state induced by subthalamic region stimulation. J Neurol Sci. 2008;273(1-2):135-8. Epub 20080805. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2008.06.012. PubMed PMID: 18684471.

30. Kaiser I, Kryspin-Exner I, Brücke T, Volc D, Alesch F. Long-term effects of STN DBS on mood: psychosocial profiles remain stable in a 3-year follow-up. BMC Neurol. 2008;8:43. Epub

20081111. doi: 10.1186/1471-2377-8-43. PubMed PMID: 19014430; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2596774.

31. Okun MS, Fernandez HH, Wu SS, Kirsch-Darrow L, Bowers D, Bova F, et al. Cognition and mood in Parkinson's disease in subthalamic nucleus versus globus pallidus interna deep brain stimulation: the COMPARE trial. Ann Neurol. 2009;65(5):586-95. doi: 10.1002/ana.21596. PubMed PMID: 19288469; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2692580.

32. Funkiewiez A, Ardouin C, Krack P, Fraix V, Van Blercom N, Xie J, et al. Acute psychotropic effects of bilateral subthalamic nucleus stimulation and levodopa in Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord. 2003;18(5):524-30. doi: 10.1002/mds.10441. PubMed PMID: 12722166.

33. Schneider F, Habel U, Volkmann J, Regel S, Kornischka J, Sturm V, et al. Deep brain stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus enhances emotional processing in Parkinson disease. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2003;60(3):296-302. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.60.3.296. PubMed PMID: 12622663.

34. Daniele A, Albanese A, Contarino MF, Zinzi P, Barbier A, Gasparini F, et al. Cognitive and behavioural effects of chronic stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus in patients with Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2003;74(2):175-82. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.74.2.175. PubMed PMID: 12531943; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1738273.

35. Vicente S, Biseul I, Péron J, Philippot P, Drapier S, Drapier D, et al. Subthalamic nucleus stimulation affects subjective emotional experience in Parkinson's disease patients. Neuropsychologia. 2009;47(8-9):1928-37. Epub 20090313. doi:

10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2009.03.003. PubMed PMID: 19428425.

36. Biseul I, Sauleau P, Haegelen C, Trebon P, Drapier D, Raoul S, et al. Fear recognition is impaired by subthalamic nucleus stimulation in Parkinson's disease. Neuropsychologia. 2005;43(7):1054-9. Epub 20041230. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2004.10.006. PubMed PMID: 15769491.

37. Pluck GC, Brown RG. Apathy in Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2002;73(6):636-42. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.73.6.636. PubMed PMID: 12438462; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1757348.

 Marin RS, Fogel BS, Hawkins J, Duffy J, Krupp B. Apathy: a treatable syndrome. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci. 1995;7(1):23-30. doi: 10.1176/jnp.7.1.23. PubMed PMID: 7711487.
 Czernecki V, Pillon B, Houeto JL, Welter ML, Mesnage V, Agid Y, et al. Does bilateral stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus aggravate apathy in Parkinson's disease? J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2005;76(6):775-9. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2003.033258. PubMed PMID: 15897497; PubMed

Central PMCID: PMCPMC1739659.

40. Castrioto A, Lhommée E, Moro E, Krack P. Mood and behavioural effects of subthalamic stimulation in Parkinson's disease. Lancet Neurol. 2014;13(3):287-305. Epub 2014/02/17. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(13)70294-1. PubMed PMID: 24556007.

41. Burkhard PR, Vingerhoets FJ, Berney A, Bogousslavsky J, Villemure JG, Ghika J. Suicide after successful deep brain stimulation for movement disorders. Neurology. 2004;63(11):2170-2. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000145603.48221.b5. PubMed PMID: 15596774.

42. Soulas T, Gurruchaga JM, Palfi S, Cesaro P, Nguyen JP, Fénelon G. Attempted and completed suicides after subthalamic nucleus stimulation for Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2008;79(8):952-4. Epub 20080410. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2007.130583. PubMed PMID: 18403439.

43. Voon V, Krack P, Lang AE, Lozano AM, Dujardin K, Schüpbach M, et al. A multicentre study on suicide outcomes following subthalamic stimulation for Parkinson's disease. Brain. 2008;131(Pt 10):2720-8. doi: 10.1093/brain/awn214. PubMed PMID: 18941146; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2724899.

44. Rodrigues AM, Rosas MJ, Gago MF, Sousa C, Fonseca R, Linhares P, et al. Suicide attempts after subthalamic nucleus stimulation for Parkinson's disease. Eur Neurol. 2010;63(3):176-9. Epub 20100227. doi: 10.1159/000289097. PubMed PMID: 20197662.

45. Welter ML, Schüpbach M, Czernecki V, Karachi C, Fernandez-Vidal S, Golmard JL, et al. Optimal target localization for subthalamic stimulation in patients with Parkinson disease. Neurology. 2014;82(15):1352-61. Epub 2014/03/19. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000000315. PubMed PMID: 24647024; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4001189.

46. York MK, Wilde EA, Simpson R, Jankovic J. Relationship between neuropsychological outcome and DBS surgical trajectory and electrode location. J Neurol Sci. 2009;287(1-2):159-71. Epub 2009/09/19. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2009.08.003. PubMed PMID: 19767016; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2783787.

47. Tsai ST, Lin SH, Lin SZ, Chen JY, Lee CW, Chen SY. Neuropsychological effects after chronic subthalamic stimulation and the topography of the nucleus in Parkinson's disease. Neurosurgery. 2007;61(5):E1024-9; discussion E9-30. doi: 10.1227/01.neu.0000303198.95296.6f. PubMed PMID: 18091257.

48. Accolla EA, Pollo C. Mood Effects After Deep Brain Stimulation for Parkinson's Disease: An Update. Front Neurol. 2019;10:617. Epub 20190614. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00617. PubMed PMID: 31258509; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6587122.

49. Nassery A, Palmese CA, Sarva H, Groves M, Miravite J, Kopell BH. Psychiatric and Cognitive Effects of Deep Brain Stimulation for Parkinson's Disease. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. 2016;16(10):87. doi: 10.1007/s11910-016-0690-1. PubMed PMID: 27539167.

50. Jahanshahi M, Obeso I, Baunez C, Alegre M, Krack P. Parkinson's disease, the subthalamic nucleus, inhibition, and impulsivity. Mov Disord. 2015;30(2):128-40. Epub 2014/10/09. doi: 10.1002/mds.26049. PubMed PMID: 25297382.

51. Leentjens AF, Moonen AJ, Dujardin K, Marsh L, Martinez-Martin P, Richard IH, et al. Modeling depression in Parkinson disease: disease-specific and nonspecific risk factors. Neurology. 2013;81(12):1036-43. Epub 2013/08/14. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182a4a503. PubMed PMID: 23946309; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3795592.

52. Defer GL, Widner H, Marié RM, Rémy P, Levivier M. Core assessment program for surgical interventional therapies in Parkinson's disease (CAPSIT-PD). Mov Disord. 1999;14(4):572-84. doi: 10.1002/1531-8257(199907)14:4<572::aid-mds1005>3.0.co;2-c. PubMed PMID: 10435493.

53. Bronstein JM, Tagliati M, Alterman RL, Lozano AM, Volkmann J, Stefani A, et al. Deep brain stimulation for Parkinson disease: an expert consensus and review of key issues. Arch Neurol. 2011;68(2):165. Epub 2010/10/11. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2010.260. PubMed PMID: 20937936; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4523130.

54. Koss AM, Alterman RL, Tagliati M, Shils JL. Calculating total electrical energy delivered by deep brain stimulation systems. Ann Neurol. 2005;58(1):168; author reply -9. doi: 10.1002/ana.20525. PubMed PMID: 15984018.

55. Chang C, Li N, Wu Y, Geng N, Ge S, Wang J, et al. Associations between bilateral subthalamic nucleus deep brain stimulation (STN-DBS) and anxiety in Parkinson's disease patients: a controlled study. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2012;24(3):316-25. doi: 10.1176/sepi expressed 11070170. PubMed PMUD: 22027645

10.1176/appi.neuropsych.11070170. PubMed PMID: 23037645.

56. Abbes M, Lhommée E, Thobois S, Klinger H, Schmitt E, Bichon A, et al. Subthalamic stimulation and neuropsychiatric symptoms in Parkinson's disease: results from a long-term follow-up cohort study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2018;89(8):836-43. Epub 2018/02/07. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2017-316373. PubMed PMID: 29436490.

57. Kardous R, Joly H, Giordana B, Stefanini L, Mulliez A, Giordana C, et al. Functional and dysfunctional impulsivities changes after subthalamic nucleus-deep brain stimulation in Parkinson disease. Neurochirurgie. 2021;67(5):420-6. Epub 20210409. doi: 10.1016/j.neuchi.2021.03.013. PubMed PMID: 33845115.

58. Combs HL, Folley BS, Berry DT, Segerstrom SC, Han DY, Anderson-Mooney AJ, et al. Cognition and Depression Following Deep Brain Stimulation of the Subthalamic Nucleus and

Globus Pallidus Pars Internus in Parkinson's Disease: A Meta-Analysis. Neuropsychol Rev. 2015;25(4):439-54. Epub 2015/10/12. doi: 10.1007/s11065-015-9302-0. PubMed PMID: 26459361.

59. Faouzi J, Corvol JC, Mariani LL. Impulse control disorders and related behaviors in Parkinson's disease: risk factors, clinical and genetic aspects, and management. Curr Opin Neurol. 2021;34(4):547-55. doi: 10.1097/WCO.00000000000055. PubMed PMID: 33967198.

60. Hälbig TD, Tse W, Frisina PG, Baker BR, Hollander E, Shapiro H, et al. Subthalamic deep brain stimulation and impulse control in Parkinson's disease. Eur J Neurol. 2009;16(4):493-7. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2008.02509.x. PubMed PMID: 19236471.

61. Giannini G, Francois M, Lhommée E, Polosan M, Schmitt E, Fraix V, et al. Suicide and suicide attempts after subthalamic nucleus stimulation in Parkinson disease. Neurology. 2019;93(1):e97-e105. Epub 2019/05/17. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000007665. PubMed PMID: 31101738.

62. Thobois S, Ardouin C, Lhommée E, Klinger H, Lagrange C, Xie J, et al. Non-motor dopamine withdrawal syndrome after surgery for Parkinson's disease: predictors and underlying mesolimbic denervation. Brain. 2010;133(Pt 4):1111-27. Epub 20100317. doi: 10.1093/brain/awq032. PubMed PMID: 20237128.

63. Okun MS, Foote KD. Parkinson's disease DBS: what, when, who and why? The time has come to tailor DBS targets. Expert Rev Neurother. 2010;10(12):1847-57. doi: 10.1586/ern.10.156. PubMed PMID: 21384698; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3076937.

64. Timmermann L, Jain R, Chen L, Maarouf M, Barbe MT, Allert N, et al. Multiple-source current steering in subthalamic nucleus deep brain stimulation for Parkinson's disease (the VANTAGE study): a non-randomised, prospective, multicentre, open-label study. Lancet Neurol. 2015;14(7):693-701. Epub 2015/05/28. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00087-3. PubMed PMID: 26027940.

65. van Gaalen MM, van Koten R, Schoffelmeer AN, Vanderschuren LJ. Critical involvement of dopaminergic neurotransmission in impulsive decision making. Biol Psychiatry. 2006;60(1):66-73. Epub 20050825. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.06.005. PubMed PMID: 16125144.

66. Weintraub D, Mamikonyan E. Impulse Control Disorders in Parkinson's Disease. Am J
Psychiatry. 2019;176(1):5-11. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2018.18040465. PubMed PMID: 30848949.
67. Frank MJ. Hold your horses: a dynamic computational role for the subthalamic nucleus in

decision making. Neural Netw. 2006;19(8):1120-36. Epub 20060901. doi:

10.1016/j.neunet.2006.03.006. PubMed PMID: 16945502.

68. Dayal V, Limousin P, Foltynie T. Subthalamic Nucleus Deep Brain Stimulation in Parkinson's Disease: The Effect of Varying Stimulation Parameters. J Parkinsons Dis. 2017;7(2):235-45. doi: 10.3233/JPD-171077. PubMed PMID: 28505983; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5438474.